Greenways in the Industrial City:
Parks and Promenades along the Lowell Canals

Patrick M. Malone and Charles A. Parroft

Lowell, Massachusetts, was widely admired not only for its
industrial system and handsome architecture but also for its
carefully designed parks and promenades. From the 1820s
to the early-20th century, major corporations such as the
Merrimack Manufacturing Company and the Proprietors of
Locks and Canals carried out extensive programs of land-
scape enhancement. Their most impressive efforts to plant
trees and create park-like settings were along the Merri-
mack and Northern Canals, two of the manmade waterways
that supplied power for manufacturing in the city. Attractive
greenways with shaded walks and grass-covered canal
margins may have helped manufacturers recruit, retain, and
control workers. However, mill operatives and mechanics
were not the only ones who took pleasure in Lowell’s green
amenities. Most of the citizenry appreciated the corporate
landscaping program. A number of Lowell’s corporate
executives and engineers were avid horticulturists, men
who jumped at the opportunity to garden on a grand scale,
with the company footing the expense.

Introduction

It was common for industrial firms in the 19th century to
show concern for the appearance of land around their
buildings and engineering structures. Professional design-
ers of parks and gardens assisted some prosperous compa-
nies, but many firms relied on in-house talent for landscap-
ing tasks. Managers and technical staff improved the look
of company property, created green spaces and prome-
nades, and provided public viewing points for natural or
industrial vistas. They even developed entire systems of
greenways, a modern term appropriate for describing linear
parks or landscaped corridors from earlier periods. The
motivations for and reactions to these various forms of
“green engineering” were often complex and sometimes
contradictory. Nowhere was this more evident than in
Lowell, Massachusetts, the great textile manufacturing
center on the Merrimack River.

Lowell, the Archetypal City at the Falls
In its course from the highlands of New Hampshire to the

Massachusetts seacoast, the Merrimack River does not
give up altitude in a smooth, uniform descent, but instead
drops forcefully over a number of falls, rapids, and man-
made dams. Henry David Thoreau said that the river had
“a city on each succeeding plateau, a busy colony of
human beaver around every fall.”™

One of the great changes in the level of the river occurs at
Pawtucket Falls in Lowell. Here a natural drop of more than
30 feet produced an outstanding site for industrial develop-
ment based on water power. In 1821, a group of investors
known as the Boston Associates acquired control of an
existing transportation canal around Pawtucket Falls and
substantial tracts of land for future development. They
formed a series of textile corporations that would depend on
the river for waterpower. The old Proprietors of Locks and
Canals became a service company, retained as a separate
corporation to hold property, build canals, manufacture
machinery, sell mill sites, erect buildings, and lease water-
power to textile manufacturers.? Within a few years, Lowell
was one of the fastest growing communities in the nation.

The highest priority of the investors in Lowell was to struc-
ture an environment conducive to manufacturing. They had
to create a waterpower system, construct factories, and pro-
vide housing for the textile workers. Despite their busi-
nesslike approach to the planning of a new city, these men
also gave serious attention to the landscaping of mill yards,
canal banks, house lots, and streets. They apparently
believed that an attractive and tasteful urban setting
reflected well on them and served to deflect criticism of
American industrialism. The setting also helped recruit a
proper workforce for their mills and boosted employee
morale. Corporate landscaping efforts in Lowell were not
the domination of nature, but instead the planned integra-
tion of natural features and deliberate plantings in the
rational, highly structured order of a new industrial city.’

Many American cities that contained power or transporta-
tion canals treated them simply as utilitarian infrastructure.
Often they were hidden behind industrial and commercial
buildings or fenced off, with little or no public access. The
sensory appeal of these waterways was sometimes lost
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Figure 1. The Lowell Canal System in 1848. The Northern Canal and the underground Moody Street Feeder had just been added to the original system.
Illustration adapted from a map drawn by Mark Howland in 1975: “Lowell Canal System, 1848,” HAER MA-1, sheet 2 of 2.
Courtesy of Historic American Engineering Record.

because urban wastes fouled their flow or because owners
failed to maintain canalside property. In Lowell, the situa-
tion was different. Both corporate officials and the general
public took pride in Lowell’s image as the “Venice of
America.” Although wooden tenements eventually lined
some of the 5/-mile canal system, several of the con-
structed waterways served as showpieces for this industrial
city. The Merrimack Canal, built in 1822-23, and the
Northern Canal, built in 1846-47, were much more than
functional conduits of water (see figure 1). They represent
early and influential experiments in the beautification of
American cities through landscape improvement. They
also reflect systems thinking, not only in their engineering
but also in their landscape designs.

20

The Environmental Costs of Urban Development

The rural village of East Chelmsford became the busy town
of Lowell in the 1820s because of the power of the Merri-
mack River at Pawtucket Falls. Reconstruction of the old
Pawtucket Canal allowed it to serve as a feeder for a net-
work of power canals, the first of which ran northeast to the
mill yard of the Merrimack Manufacturing Company (see
figure 2). Enroute to the first of the Merrimack mills,
located on the bank of the Merrimack River, the new Merri-
mack Canal passed under the town’s principal thoroughfare,
appropriately named Merrimack Street. The Boston Associ-
ates laid out Dutton Street parallel to this power canal and
built boarding houses on the west side of the street.
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Figure 2. Detail of an 1825 Lowell map showing the Merrimack Canal running in a vertical line from the machine shop of
the Proprietors of Locks and Canals (at bottom) to the millyard of the Merrimack Manufacturing Company (at top).
Projected buildings and canals are lightly outlined. Kirk Boott’s house and gardens show at the upper right. The authors
have labeled key streets. Adapted from George R. Baldwin, A Plan of Land and Buildings belonging to the Merrimack
Manufacturing Company, with the Neighboring Farms, Roads, etc. at Pawtucket in the Town of Chelmsford, MDCCCXXV,
(1825). Courtesy of Locks and Canals Drawing Archive, Lowell National Historical Park.

Benjamin Mather gave three-dimensional form to the early
layout of the Merrimack Canal and Dutton Street in an
1825 painting (see figure 3). At first glance, this painting
appears to illustrate the seamless melding of early Lowell
into the middle landscape.* Upon closer inspection, how-
ever, that aspect exists only in the still-rural foreground,
and in the property around the neoclassical mansion of Kirk
Boott, the Boston Associates’ first agent in Lowell.* In con-
trast, the more developed area of the new community seems
barren of trees. Because much of that area had been used

for agricultural fields or pastures, it was not a forest when
the Boston Associates arrived, but there were numerous
trees along fence lines, in groves, and in isolated stands.

When one considers the unprecedented scale of construc-
tion necessary for canals, roads, and buildings, it is clear
that Lowell bypassed any interlude as a bucolic New Eng-
land mill village.® The first phase of construction, although
still of relatively low density, wrought a major change
upon the land. It was in every way an urban transforma-
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Figure 3. Painting of early Lowell, viewed from the south. The large factory to the left is the machine shop of the Proprietors of Locks and Canals.
The line of boarding houses along Dutton Street is visible in the center. Mills of the Merrimack Manufacturing Company at the end of Dutton Street
extend in the background on both sides of the church tower. The mansion at the far right is Kirk Boott’s house.

Benjamin Mather, Lowell in 1825. Courtesy of Lowell Art Association.

tion, requiring cutting of trees, filling of low areas, and
regrading. Two views from the mid-1830s provide addi-
tional evidence that construction took a heavy toll of pre-
existing vegetation. In the first image, Dutton Street south
of Merrimack Street still appears treeless. Indeed, looking
northeast from the machine shop, it has a raw, unfinished
character (see figure 4a). The same condition is evident in
the second image, which looks south from the Merrimack
Street intersection. (see figure 4b).

The scarcity of mature trees in the Lowell landscape was
still remarkable as late as 1844. John Greenleaf Whittier
spent the latter half of that year in Lowell editing an aboli-
tionist newspaper.” In his collection of essays entitled The
Stranger in Lowell, he observed that '

Many of the streets of Lowell present a lively and neat aspect, and are
adomed with handsome public buildings; but they lack one pleasant
feature of older towns—broad, spreading shade trees. Shame on that
miserable Yankee utilitarianism of the first settlers, which swept away
so entirely the green beauty of nature.®
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Whittier went on to complain of “the sun glaring down
from a hot copper sky, upon these naked, treeless streets,”
and “how unlike the elm-lined avenues of New Haven”
Lowell was.? He was talking about the city in general, but
his criticism was unfair to the northern corridor along Dut-
ton Street and the Merrimack Canal, an area that industri-
alists had planted with elm saplings, beginning in the
1820s. The problem there was not a lack of trees; it was
the slow growth of popular species like the American elm."

The stark appearance of early Lowell could not be altered
overnight. Construction of mills, housing, and canals by
the Lowell corporations was virtually a continuous activity
from 1822 to 1841. However, soon after the Boston Asso-
ciates had their first mill in operation, they began to soften
the look of new development with a program of tree plant-
ing. They deliberately re-established a connection with
nature by creating an artificial, but green, landscape in the
corridor leading to their mill yard.
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Figure 4b. Looking south on Dutton Street from Merrimack Street. The neoclassical railroad station is at the left.
Anon., “Boston and Lowell Railroad,” American Magazine 111, (December 1836). Courtesy of Lowell Historical Society.
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A Green Industrialist

Kirk Boott, as agent (chief executive) of both the Merri-
mack Manufacturing Company and the Proprietors of
Locks and Canals, was in charge of the first landscaping
along Dutton Street and the Merrimack Canal, an effort
that extended into the Merrimack mill yard as well. With
those projects, he established a pattern of green engineer-
ing by Lowell corporations that would last long after his
death in 1837. It is not surprising that Boott liked to see
trees, grass, and flowers on company land; horticultural
and botanical interests ran deep in his family.

Kirk’s father (Kirk Sr.), the son of an English market gar-
dener, maintained a famous greenhouse and garden at the
family’s seat on Bowdoin Square in Boston. One brother,
Francis, became a respected botanical expert on sedges.
All four of Kirk’s brothers were members of the Boston
Society of Natural History, and two, Wright and William,
were charter members of the Massachusetts Horticultural
Society at its founding in 1829. Both of these organiza-
tions drew their membership from Boston’s leading fami-
lies and included many of the Boston Associates on their
rosters. The eccentric brother Wright, who was one of the
first of the associates, was a well-known orchid grower.
William, who would eventually follow Kirk to Lowell, was
also a serious gardener who assisted Wright in the green-
house. Although Kirk may have been the least horticultur-
ally inclined member of his family, he did keep a large gar-
den on his Lowell estate, and his wife, Anne, exhibited at a
show of the Massachusetts Horticultural Society." Their
Lowell garden “was a wonder to everybody, fruit and
‘flowers brought to such perfection.”"

The Dutton Mall

The first intensive planting of trees along the Merrimack
Canal/Dutton Street corridor was apparently north of Mer-
rimack Street on the strip of land between the street and
water. The new elms stood directly in front of the boarding
houses of the Merrimack Manufacturing Company. An
account from 1825 described the setting: “On the banks of
the factory canal, which is fenced in and ornamented with
arow of elms, are situated the houses for the people.”"

This site may have been favored for the initial tree planting
because of the proximity of the boardinghouses, which had
quickly assumed a high symbolic value in the Lowell
industrial experiment." Here on the northern end of Dutton
Street, as seen in an 1834 view of the city (see figure 5),
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the character was already quite different than the more
industrial part of the street to the south. A line of trees
fronting the boardinghouses on what we will call the Dut-
ton Mall is clearly evident. The easterly panorama across
the canal from the Dutton Mall included the middle land-
scape of Boott’s estate with the still-natural confluence of
the Concord and Merrimack rivers just beyond.

A contributor to the Lowell Offering in 1841 was impressed
by the effects of the corporate planting programs:

Within a short time, shade trees have been placed around the different
corporations; and along some of the canals, even double rows of trees
have been placed, forming a cool and delightful retreat. Many pleas-
ant hours have I passed beneath their shade. . . ."”

By then, the Proprietors of Locks and Canals had appar-
ently added another line of trees between Dutton Street and
the Merrimack Canal north of Merrimack Street, thus form-
ing one of those double rows. People in Lowell had used
the 38-foot-wide strip of land between the street and canal
bank as one of the community’s unofficial promenades
since the late 1820s. An 1848 view shows several well-
dressed men and women enjoying that “cool and delightful
retreat” in a clearly defined double row of stately trees (see
figure 6). We call this the Dutton Mall because the term
mall, meaning “a shaded walk or public promenade,” was
widely used in Lowell for similar settings by the 1840s.'
The trees of the mall were by then mature enough to pro-
vide softening elements of natural beauty and grace in a
landscape devoted to industrial production.

The Railroad Corridor

The Proprietors of Locks and Canals applied similar land-
scaping treatments to the street and canal corridor south of
Market Street. However, the surroundings here were more
industrial. The heavier work at the company’s machine
shop and sawmill was already affecting the character of the
landscape, and a new textile corporation, the Lowell Man-
ufacturing Company, had begun to erect mills next to the
machine shop in 1828. In an attempt to beautify this reach
of the canal, the proprietors began planting numerous trees
along the water by the mid-1830s.

New trees were just taking root when canalside property
suddenly became very important real estate. Some of the
same men responsible for the industrial development of
Lowell were now planning a railroad, and they were quick to
appreciate the advantages of the Merrimack Canal corridor
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Figure 5. Lowell in 1834. Looking southwest across the Merrimack River toward the Merrimack Canal and the corporate housing along Dutton Street. The
artist shows a line of trees along the canal in front of the boarding houses, with the Merrimack Manufacturing Company mills to the right. Detail from
E. A. Farrar, View of Lowell, Mass. Taken From The House of Elisha Fuller Esq: In Dracutt [1834]. Courtesy of Univ. of Massachusetts—Lowell.

Figure 6. Dutton Street with its mall and rail spur. Looking north toward Mill No. 6 of the Merrimack Manufacturing Company. Boarding houses are at
the left, and the Merrimack Canal is to the right beyond the Dutton Mall. People are promenading in the shade of the trees.
Print by O. Pelton, delineator, in 1848. Courtesy of Lowell Historical Society.
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Figure 7. Retrospective drawing showing the landscaped rail corridor along the Merrimack Canal at the machine shop in 1845. This is a bird’s-eye view
looking east, with Dutton Street in the lower left corner. The train is traveling on the tracks located between Dutton Street and the Merrimack Canal.
Illustration by Coggeshall & Piper in Lowell Machine Shop: Builders of Cotton Machinery [catalog] (Lowell, Mass.: 1898), 112.

Courtesy of Univ. of Massachusetts—Lowell.

as a route to the manufacturing plants, their most important
potential customers. The strip of land between the Merri-
mack Canal and Dutton Street was ready-made for railroad
tracks. It also could handle spur connections to individual
mill complexes. The Boston and Lowell Railroad built the
first of what was soon to be a double line of tracks in the
western 25 feet of the green strip between Dutton Street
and the Merrimack Canal. The line ended at Merrimack
Street, where a passenger station opened with the first rail
traffic in 1835.

The railroad had come to stay, but it did not have total free-
dom to alter the designed landscape. The Proprietors of
Locks and Canals still owned the land on which the railroad
sat and were determined to preserve the already planted
trees. When they transferred the railroad right-of-way to the
Boston and Lowell in 1847, a clause in the deed stated
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It is understood and agreed that said Rail Road Corpofation are not to
cause any trees to be cut down or removed (that are now standing)
between the track of their road and said Merrimack Canal without the
consent of said Proprietors."”

A triple file of trees along Dutton Street and the Merrimack
Canal south of Market Street appear in a perspective draw-
ing of the Lowell Machine Shop. Local engravers produced
this detailed image in 1898 to illustrate the plant as it
looked in 1845, the year it was formally organized as a sep-
arate company (see figure 7)."* They drew trees flanking
each side of Dutton Street and another row of somewhat
smaller trees standing along the canal’s left (western) bank.

The railroad also encroached on the Dutton Mall north of
the railroad station. Shortly after the line reached its termi-
nus at Merrimack Street, workers extended tracks to each
of the mill complexes, usually following routes estab-
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lished by existing canals.” Completion of these freight
spurs was critical to the financial success of the railroad.
The spur from the station to the Merrimack Company con-
tinued straight along the east edge of Dutton Street, taking
about a quarter of the promenade strip beside the canal.

In spite of this intrusion, the Dutton Mall’s trees survived,
thus preserving the promenade function in the remaining
width of approximately 28 feet. In 1845, Josephine Baker
described the younger of the two lines of elms:

To the right was the canal, neatly walled-up and enclosed with a white
fence near which a row of trees had been set, that flourished and gave
promise in time to shade the railway that ran beneath to the factory yard.”

Rail traffic over the freight spur was far less frequent than
on the combined freight/passenger track south of the sta-
tion, and horses were used in place of locomotives to pull
cars on this final link to the Merrimack mills.”* So at least
for the next decade, while other promenade areas were
being developed elsewhere in the city, the Dutton Mall
continued to be frequented by crowds of recreational walk-
ers, especially on Sundays when there was no work in the
mills and no need to move freight on the spurs.

A Canal System Linking the
City with the Countryside

Walkers venturing beyond the developed malls of the Mer-
rimack Canal could follow it upstream to the Pawtucket
Canal and reach the relatively undeveloped areas outside
the urban core, such as the falls on the Merrimack. Lucy
Larcom recalled strolls in the 1830s along the “old canal
path, to explore the mysteries of the guard-locks” on the
Pawtucket Canal. She said that “there were miles of wind-
ing canal, that on holidays tempted young feet into long,
sunny wanderings through green pastures.” William
Worthen commented that walks to the guard-locks “in
pleasant company” were “the thing” in his day.”

After the 1847 addition of the Northern Canal to the system,
ambitious hikers could take a circuitous route out the Merri-
mack and Pawtucket canals to the falls and back into the
city on the Northern Canal (see figure 1). Where the Propri-
etors of Locks and Canals had done no deliberate landscap-
ing, there were many appealing areas of natural growth.
Wildflowers flourished (and still do) along the canals’ stone
walls and sloping banks. Harriet Robinson noted that wild
roses, blue bells, and the “rock-loving Columbine” grew
even on the sides of the “race-way” leading to her mill.”

The Shattuck Mall

By 1840, only one block along the Merrimack Canal
lacked formal landscaping. When viewers looked south
from the railroad station at Merrimack Street, they saw a
gap in the greenway before the rows of trees began again
at Market Street. Minimal planting had taken place in this
long block during the initial development of the railway
corridor, but land on the east side of the canal was “after-
ward greatly beautified” during William Boott’s 1840 to
1845 tenure as agent of the Proprietors of Locks and
Canals. It then became known as the Shattuck Mall.*

The youngest brother of Kirk Boott, whom we described
as an enthusiastic horticulturist, designed the Shattuck
Mall with the richest landscape treatment of all the planted
areas along the Merrimack Canal. It was “artistically ‘laid
out’” with a variety of species including elm, maple, and
cherry. This handsome promenading area was “covered in
trees and shrubs,” and “great care was had in the selection,
and also the arrangement of them.”” For a few years, the
Proprietors of Locks and Canals also took care to protect
this landscape from encroachment by new technology. The
treasurer told Mr. George in 1845 that “he cannot have the
right to erect his telegraph in Shattuck Mall.”*

Alteration of the
Greenway by Railroad Expansion

With the completion of the Shattuck Mall, Lowell now had
a greenway along Dutton Street that extended the entire
length of the Merrimack Canal. The landscaped corridor
coexisted with the railroad until 1852. At that time,
demand for more passenger service led to the addition of a
third track along Dutton Street south of the depot and
replacement of the original station with a larger passenger
station, which also contained municipal meeting rooms in
the upper story. To effect this, the Proprietors of Locks and
Canals gave the railroad rights to build the new depot over
the canal just south of Merrimack Street and granted an
easement for use of the canal bank. The easement stipu-
lated that the railroad could install a third track along the
canal on level ground by building a retaining wall at the
water’s edge and backfilling the sloping bank.” Unfortu-
nately, the building of a new depot and wall meant the loss
of canal-edge trees on the west bank south of Market
Street and on the east bank occupied by the Shattuck Mall.

The substantial mass of the new railroad station now loomed
over the canal, separating the Dutton Street/Merrimack
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Figure 8. Looking north at Dutton Street, the railroad, and the Merrimack Canal from the roof of Building No. 2 at the machine shop (c. 1900).
Note the line of trees beside the tracks and the 1852 railroad station spanning the canal in the distance.
Photograph courtesy of Ann Metherall Collection, Center for Lowell History, Univ. of Massachusetts—Lowell.

Canal corridor into distinctive northern and southern parts.
South of Merrimack Street, only the street trees survived.
They continued to grace this strip for many years even as
industrial development continued; most were still standing
as mature trees at the end of the 19th century (see figure 8),
and some lasted until the middle of the 20th century.

Formation of the Anne Street Canal Park

North of Merrimack Street, the rapid pace of urban devel-
opment stimulated popular support for the preservation of
green space in the city. By the late 1830s, construction was
altering the open vistas of the countryside from the Dutton
Mall. Buildings were going up on the eastern side of the
Merrimack Canal and on the lands of the former Boott
estate. City officials laid out Anne Street parallel to the
canal in 1837, and Benjamin F. French, the first agent of
the Boott Mills, built a house facing the water. In 1840, the
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city erected its first high school just north of French’s
house. Construction of additional houses followed soon
after, effectively enclosing the northern reach of the canal
opposite the Dutton Mall.

In 1844, several residents of Anne Street took steps to pro-
tect their views and the green surroundings of their new
houses on the east bank of the canal. Benjamin French and
his neighbor, George Carleton,” persuaded the Proprietors
of Locks and Canals to grant them trusteeship over the
strip of land at the canal’s edge so they could keep it “as
ornamental ground forever.” The land so designated was
“dedicated and set apart by the grantors for the purpose of
beautifying and ventilating the City.””

The conveyance stated that the land was to be devoted to
trees, shrubs, grasses, and other plantings. This was to
assure that Anne Street residents would continue to receive
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Figure 9. Anne Street Park after it had been renamed in 1910 to honor the former mill girl and poet, Lucy Larcom. Looking north towards the
Merrimack Dressing Mill. The Dutton Mall is across the Merrimack Canal at the left. “Lucy Larcom Park, Bordering Anne Street Canal.” Tenth
Annual Report of the Board of Park Commissioners of the City of Lowell for the Year Ending December 12, 1912 (Lowell, 1913).
Courtesy of Lowell Historical Society.

“the advantages of light, air, and prospect that they now
enjoy.”* However, the Proprietors of Locks and Canals
carefully retained their right to widen the canal. Hydraulic
efficiency and the power demands of the mills came first.

It is unclear whether the Proprietors of Locks and Canals
or the Anne Street Trust maintained what became known
as the Anne Street Canal Park. Whoever was responsible,
the land across the canal from the Dutton Mall was pre-
served and kept planted in shade trees, mostly elms, like
the opposite bank (see figure 9). Although the Anne Street
Canal Park remained a restricted enclave, fenced off at the
street line (probably to maintain the unfenced canal bank

necessary for breaking up ice in the canal), it did complete -
the landscaped surround of the power canal north of Merri-

mack Street.

This tree-lined water alleé had an equally graceful archi-
tectural perimeter. A harmonious group of residential, insti-

tutional, commercial, and industrial buildings enclosed the
greenway with a unified and balanced edge. This hand-
some but unpretentious corridor figures among the signifi-
cant explorations of urban design in the 19th century.
Readily accessible and open to multiple levels of society, it
tapped social democratic impulses that were only begin-
ning to be explored by America’s nascent park move-
ment.* Here the boarding houses of mill operatives faced
the homes of the gentry across a shaded greenway in the
center of a busy city.

The park-like surroundings of the Merrimack Canal and its
flanking streets provided a safe and attractive place for
people to walk in the company of their fellow citizens or to
pause for periods of personal contemplation. Although
canals may have been relegated to back-alley status in
some places, Lowell celebrated its raison d’étre with a
delightful greenway that was soon the most popular gath-
ering place in the city.”
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Promenading in the City

Traditionally, “promenading” has meant walking for pleasure
in public. This venerable European practice came early to
America but gained increasing social importance here in the
19th century. It was associated with “seeing and being seen,”
usually in an urban setting with one or more companions. On
a promenade, there were opportunities to watch and perhaps
to meet interesting people, including members of the other
gender. Well-dressed promenaders might show off their fin-
ery while enjoying fresh air and stimulating scenery.”

The scenery for promenaders could include landscaped
parks and gardens, tree-lined boulevards, urban skylines,
waterfronts, and factories.* Many Americans who walked
for enjoyment appreciated a stimulating look at prominent
features of the industrial landscape, which included not
just mines, mills, and shops, but also public works, trans-
portation structures, and power systems. In Lowell, prome-
naders were drawn to the rivers and the glistening canals
that laced the city. They strolled down company-owned
walkways and along the public streets, admiring beautiful
features of both the natural and the built environment.

Dutton Street was a popular place for promenading, partic-
ularly on Sundays and holidays when the mills ceased
work. Many of the so-called Lowell “mill girls” took part
in this outdoor activity. Nineteenth-century social reform-
ers, including numerous advocates of urban parks, believed
that walking about in the fresh air was a restorative exer-
cise that helped keep workers healthy. They also stressed
the importance of bringing people of different classes
together and inspiring urbane, cultivated behavior through
appropriate example.*

Public Relations and Public Display

Industrialists with a stake in Lowell saw clear benefits in
keeping workers satisfied with their lives, proud of their
community, and in good health. They also recognized the
public relations value of Lowell’s image as a model indus-
trial city where young women could find both productive
employment and cultural uplift.*

It was common for female workers to save several hours
each Sunday, their one day of leisure, for promenading in
their best dresses and hats. Many set aside part of their
wages earned in the mills for the purchases of stylish cloth-
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ing. Mary Paul wrote in 1845 of spending her leftover earn-
ings on a “bonnet and some small articles.” Sarah Hogdon,
in 1830, even sent bonnets and cloth home to her sisters but
got less-than-an-enthusiastic thank you. She seemed uneasy
about her new purchasing power, saying she hoped “it may
not be said of me when I come home that I have sold my
soul for the gay vanitys of this world.”’

Some family members resented this conspicuous consump-
tion. Fathers, in particular, were often taken aback by the
“airs” of their newly independent daughters in Lowell.*
There was also, as one would expect, a positive response
to conspicuous displays of clothing in a city built on tex-
tiles and eager to present a cultivated appearance. John
Greenleaf Whittier approved of the female operatives
dressing up and promenading in the city. Whittier said that
following the afternoon service on Sunday, the streets blos-
somed as if the flowers in a garden “should take it into
their heads to promenade for exercise. Thousands swarm
forth, who during week days are confined to the mills.” To
a city with such a large workforce, “the weekly respite
from monotonous in-door toil, afforded by the first day of
the week was particularly grateful.”®

Certain members of the growing female labor reform
movement had a different response to working women -
who dressed well in public while accepting speed-ups and
low wages in the mills. Promenading with expensive cloth-
ing actually became an issue in the factory debates of the
1840s. In 1848, a contributor to a newspaper called The
Protest said that the “Cotton Lords” used such behavior by
mill operatives to prove that existing wages were too high:
industrialists could claim that “The girl who works in the
mill, The factory girl, dresses as well as our daughters.” In
the same edition, “An Appeal to Mothers in the Country”
argued that it was better to keep a young woman in the
“rags” of rural poverty “than that she should be found in
this city flaunting in silks and dressed out in gew-gaws,
soulless, healthless. What can fine clothes and shining
[gold] dust repay the loss of health and a good name.”*

Some of the criticism toward operatives who promenaded
had an interesting ethnic dimension. Those who walked
about on Sunday after church could see Irish immigrants
working in the power canals. The only time when water
could be shut off for cleaning or repairing a canal without
halting textile production was on Sunday. A satirical vol-
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ume called Easy Catechism for Elastic Consciences written
by a pseudonymous author (Israel of Old) for the “Sabbath-
Labor-Christians of Lowell” in 1847 noted the unfairness of
a system that relegated Irish workers to making “heave
offerings” with their shovels from the beds of the canals,
giving up religious services as well as “all the pleasures and
fashionable amusements” that others enjoyed on the normal
day of rest.*’ Whittier agreed with those who found this
treatment of the Catholic Irish by Protestant managers hyp-
ocritical. He noted with sarcasm that “True, the Sabbath is
holy, but the canals must be repaired.”*

Promenading did not eliminate social barriers based on
class, ethnicity, and occupation, but it did bring people of
widely varying backgrounds together in public places. In
Lowell, it was a sociable activity that also satisfied com-
mon needs for contact with nature. The distinctions
between public and private space blurred as company offi-
cials encouraged recreational use of their property, and as
the city began to acquire corporate land for public parks.

The Proprietors of Locks and Canals, having turned their
attention to the operation of the canal system, decided to sell
off much of their extensive property holdings in the 1840s.
They let the Tremont and Suffolk Mills buy a parcel of land in
1842, on the condition that it be “leveled for a public walk or
promenade and planted with trees, with suitable avenues and
enclosures . . . for the use of the public, as a mall or prome-
nade . . .”* In 1845, they sold the city enough land to create
two sizeable parks or commons. City officials added diagonal
promenades to these open areas, flanking them with rows of
trees in a formal style reminiscent of Baroque parks.*

James B. Francis

Landscaping continued to be a high priority in the head-
quarters of the Proprietors of Locks and Canals after 1845,
when the corporation became simply a provider of power,
wholly owned by the 10 textile corporations and the newly
independent machine shop on the canal system. The new
agent, James B. Francis, was as fond of gardening as he
was of designing water turbines and gate controls. He
earned international renown for his work in hydraulics and
structural theory, but his true love was really the horticul-
tural realm of flowers, shrubs, and trees. He was a member
of both the Boston Society of Civil Engineers and the
Boston Society of Natural History. Francis as a planner

and designer personified the green engineer who sought a
rational synthesis of the natural world and the built envi-
ronment. He worked tirelessly to beautify land owned by
the Proprietors of Locks and Canals and to make it accessi-
ble for the people of Lowell.

After training on construction projects in Britain and work-
ing briefly for an American railroad, Francis joined the
engineering staff of the Proprietors of Locks and Canals in
1834. He rose rapidly in the corporate hierarchy, becoming
the power company’s chief engineer in 1837 and its agent
in 1845. Before he gave up those dual positions in 1885, he
also served as the president of the American Society of
Civil Engineers. His classic book, Lowell Hydraulic
Experiments (1855), was the first work of American engi-
neering science to win widespread acclaim in Europe. To
Francis, designing with nature was part of the engineer’s
mandate. It was also a personal pleasure. Throughout his
busy professional career, he found ways to include botani-
cal cultivation in both his work and his personal life.

William Worthen, a friend and colleague, said that Francis
was born in an English cottage surrounded by a garden.
After his marriage in 1837, all of Francis’ homes in Lowell
had plots for cultivation. To his first one, “he gave personal
attention with his usual persistence, and the result was that
it became noted for its vegetables, fruits, and flowers.”
Remarking on Francis’s characteristic generosity, Worthen
wrote that “he plentifully supplied his neighbors” with the
products of his gardening.*

The Northern Canal

The Northern Canal was James Francis’ greatest profes-
sional triumph and remains one of the premier landmarks of
American engineering. Designed and constructed under his
direct supervision in 1846 and 1847, this vast undertaking
was the culmination of decades of efforts to harness the
flow of the Merrimack River at Pawtucket Falls.* The canal
started at the head of the falls and ran roughly parallel to
the river for over 2,000 feet (see figure 1). Then it turned
inland for approximately the same distance to join the exist-
ing canal system at the Western Canal. By cutting through
the elevated terrain below the falls, Francis created a spec-
tacular island. Where the canal extended into the natural
bed of the river, he built something even more dramatic.
Here the “Great River Wall” holds the canal above the
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Figure 10. Sketches by James B. Francis showing
the malls he planned for both sides of the
Northern Canal along its inland section.
Records of the Proprietors of Locks and Canals,

vol. A-18, 1 April 1848. Courtesy of Baker S SR (O : S

Library, Harvard Univ. = A (.L{ L 2‘? /4,,& %l
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rapids and provides an elevated platform with unsurpassed
vistas. This massive wall with its exterior of heavy granite
blocks is up to 36 feet in height and 1,000 feet long.”

Francis wanted the citizens of Lowell to share the views
along the Northern Canal. Once the canal was completed
in 1847, he added a walkway from its entrance to the Suf-
folk Mill. The directors’ minutes note that

Matters of ornament such as covering the banks with soil, planting
trees, making walls, fences, etc. . . . which are not essential to the safety
of the canal were not included in Francis’ estimates of costs and were
not attended to until the canal and its structures were finished.

Official authorization for “‘suitable shade trees” and iron
fences came in 1848.%

Sketches for malls that Francis planned to build on either

side of the Northern Canal still exist (see figure 10).
Intended for the inland section of the canal, these malls
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had double lines of trees. The note that accompanies his
sketches is revealing of the man: “The above sections rep-
resent the form I want to have the banks when completed
... 7 Here is an engineer concerned with form in the
broad sense. He is thinking like a landscape architect, try-
ing to design not just the shape of the earthwork behind
each canal wall but also the form of the tree-lined malls
that will beckon the citizens of his community.

Francis’ journals imply that he took personal charge of the
selection of trees and their placement. His annual entries
on the accomplishments of the past year almost always
mention plantings. He specified types of trees and shrubs,
showing considerable knowledge of arboriculture.”® How-
ever, Francis faced the same problem that perplexed Kirk
and William Boott: the slow growth patterns of the most-
admired shade trees. His solution along the Northern Canal
was to plant an additional set of fast-growing trees (black
Italian poplars) to provide immediate shade while the
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Figure 11. Postcard showing James B. Francis’ Canal Walk. This turn-of-the-century view shows promenaders on the Great River Wail of the Northern
Canal and on the landscaped “island” section in the distance at the left. Both the Merrimack River and the canal are flowing from left to right.
“Canal Walk Lowell, Mass.,” (G. Prince and Son: Lowell, Mass., c. 1905). Author’s collection.

more-desirable elms were maturing. He cut the poplars
down in 1859, when they began to crowd the elms. Charles
Cowley, a local historian and civic booster, wrote of the
Northern Canal in 1868 that “the banks are lined with a
double colonnade of trees, tastefully laid out with green
plats and beautiful summer promenades.”'

Documentary accounts of the enthusiasm which people
displayed for the Northern Canal’s walkway are supported
by a wealth of photographic evidence, including numerous
stereo and postcard images of people promenading on vari-
ous sections (see figure 11). Edward Thomas provided the
following account:

Years ago, it was one of the sights of the city for its citizens on Sun-
day afternoons to promenade from Cabot Street along the side of the
Northern Canal, up toward Pawtucket Street under the high bridge;
and along the stone dividing wall, between the canal and the river,
thence to the Pawtucket Falls bridge. The writer clearly recalls the
hundreds, who enjoyed the walk, which presented a singularly attrac-
tive view of its entire length, and was known as the Canal Walk.*

The Canal Walk was obviously an important amenity for
the city. An illustrated history of Lowell published in 1897
compared the promenade and its surroundings to a park
and commented on the relief it provided urban dwellers:

This island [between the Northern Canal and the river] is grassy and
wooded, and supplies an outing-ground with many rural elements still
clinging to it. Its proximity to some of the most-densely populated
streets of the city gives it a special value as a park. For a quarter of a
mile beyond the island, the canal is separated from the river by a high
stone embankment which serves as a fine promenade. The island and
the embankment together constitute what is called the Canal Walk,
and offer as fine an opportunity for a half hour’s stroll as one could
well wish. It is well away from the dust and noise of the city. More-
over the view of the river at this point is of peculiar interest.*

The orderly spacing of trees along the canal is apparent in
a number of historical photographs (see figure 12). Unfor-
tunately none of the graceful elms planted in 1848 sur-
vived the ravages of Dutch elm disease in this century.
Also sadly missing from the present landscape is a tree of
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considerable renown that Francis saved from destruction in
1875.

This grand specimen of the hackberry, or Celtis occiden-
talis, grew naturally near the Northern Canal but was
marked for cutting because it encroached on a road.
Instead of allowing the sawyers to proceed, Francis used
heroic and innovative procedures to move this large tree to
the head of “the row that stretches from Pawtucket Street
down the southern bank of the canal.” A reporter com-
mented that “Owing to its rarity, Mr. Francis, the agent of
the Locks and Canal Company, wanted to save it. Now,
when Mr. Francis wants to have a thing done, he is in the
habit of finding a way to do it.” He dug a trench 21 feet in
diameter around the tree, waited till a period of cold
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Figure 12. Trees planted along the inland
section of the Northern Canal. Looking
southeast from a point above the Canal Walk
toward the Tremont Mills. The crooked tree
on the far right is a hackberry (Celtis
occidentalis) moved by James B. Francis to
the head of an existing row of elms.
Photograph courtesy of Lowell Historical
Society.

weather, then hoisted and moved the entire tree with its
root system safely encased in a disk of frozen ground.
“When the ground thawed in the spring, the tree settled
down to its bed and is now in thrifty condition.” The news-
paper said that his efforts “deserve the acknowledgments
of every lover of nature.”*

Greenways and Park Systems

It should not surprise us that designers of lengthy canal
systems would think of parks as systems and stress the
extended greenway more than the isolated, discrete green-
space. Landscaping along the Northern and Merrimack
canals followed the routes of these constructed channels.
Walkways linked sections with different characters and
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offered promenaders on the Northern Canal a particularly
striking sequence of visual experiences.

In the second half of the 19th century, Frederick Law Olm-
sted Sr. would become famous for planning such
sequences at New York’s Central Park, Brooklyn’s
Prospect Park, and Boston’s Emerald Necklace. He would
go on to become our nation’s most influential advocate of
park systems and greenways. Charles Little, in Greenways
for America, argues that “if any single person ‘invented’
the idea of greenways,” it was Olmsted. Lowell already
had a rural cemetery, two city parks, and a well-developed
system of canal greenways a decade before Olmsted
designed his first park in 1858, 17 years before he pro-
posed his first greenway, and more than a quarter of a cen-
tury before he began planning a full system of parks for
Boston. The very active “greenway movement” of today
may really have its origins in Lowell.

Maturity of the Merrimack Canal Corridor

After the completion of the Anne Street houses, the most
significant change along the northern reach of the Merri-
mack Canal was the erection in three stages, from about
1862 to 1875, of the Merrimack Company’s Dressing Mill
that bridged the canal. The dramatic Romanesque tower of
this mill terminated the sight line from Merrimack Street,
just as the 1823 stair tower of Mill No. 1 and the 1845
cupola of Mill No. 6 had done (see figures 6 and 9).% Cou-
pled with the first phase of the Dressing Mill construction
was the widening of the Merrimack Canal.”” To do this, the
Proprietors of Locks and Canals exercised their right to
take part of the Anne Street Canal Park, thereby reducing
its width from about 40 to 30 feet. If there was a double
row of trees here at the time, this widening would have
forced the removal of the water-side elms.*® Whatever the
case, a single well-maintained row remained in place.

After the changes wrought by the railroad spur and the
enlarging of the canal, the lower reach of the Merrimack
Canal (the section north of Merrimack Street) remained
essentially unchanged, and the trees grew to maturity (see
figure 13). Indeed, referring to the modest stature of the
trees in mid-1840s Lowell, Whittier had predicted that

Time will remedy all this; and when Lowell shall have numbered half
the years of her sister cities, her newly planted elms and maples,
which now only cause us to contrast their shadeless stems with the
leafy glory of their parents of the forest, will stretch out to the future
visitor arms of welcome and repose.*

In 1903 an English observer of Lowell, undoubtedly refer-
ring to the Merrimack Canal’s lower reach, noted that “this

canal, shaded on both sides with old trees, and flowing swift
and clear down the middle of the street leading to the mills,
is an ornament as well as a profitable servant to the town.”®

Other industrial cities looked to this canalside landscape as
a planning model. In 1906, a published report of the Met-
ropolitan Park Commission in Providence, Rhode Island,
included an illustration of the Merrimack Canal in Lowell.
It noted that this “artificial waterway created for a wholly
utilitarian purpose, shows how easily the banks of the
Woonasquatucket might be made attractive instead of for-
bidding and repulsive.”®!

Redevelopment as Lucy Larcom Park

The Merrimack Canal greenway was well maintained over
the years, but civic reformers in the early-20th century saw
that it could be improved. The City Beautiful spirit of the
times inspired a 1908 proposal in Lowell to further
develop some of the city’s canal margins and river frontage
for purposes of urban improvement and recreation.® Little
came of this with regard to the rest of the canal system,
including the truncated, deteriorating Northern Canal
Walk. However, the city did assume the Anne Street Canal
Park trusteeship and authorized expenditures for a land-
scape enhancement program on both sides of the Merri-
mack Canal.® City officials worked out an arrangement
with the Proprietors of Locks and Canals to repair and cap
the walls and upgrade the Dutton and Anne streets parks.

Work took place on the Anne Street side from 1909 to
1911; then on the Dutton Street side in 1916 and 1917.
First, the Proprietors of Locks and Canals repaired and
raised the walls about 2 feet and leveled them with new
granite capstones. Following this project, the city installed
edge railings with cast-iron posts and round-bar picket
panels of steel, perhaps inspired by those at the new
Charles River Esplanade in Boston. Additionally, on the
Anne Street side, the city added a cinder path at the water’s
edge, five widely spaced, unshaded arc lights on cast-iron
and steel crook-neck posts, several park benches, a turned-
granite drinking fountain, a rhododendron bed, and a long
barberry hedge.* The design concept for some of this work
came from a landscape plan for the Anne Street side pre-
pared by the Olmsted Brothers, although the final results
were less sophisticated than the Olmsted plan.®

The city renamed the Anne Street Canal Park in 1910, call-
ing it Lucy Larcom Park to honor the famous writer, poet,
and editor who had once been a Lowell “mill girl.”® As
stated in Lowell’s 1910 Park Commission report,
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Figure 13. Photograph taken from the tower of the Lowell City Hall, c. 1900, looking northeast at the green corridor along the Merrimack Canal.
The line of Dutton Street boarding houses runs diagonally across the scene, parallel to the foliage-obscured canal.
Photograph courtesy of Univ. of Massachusetts—Lowell.

The name Lucy Larcom is an honorable name among women in the
annals of the early history of the City, and may fittingly be associated
with a breathing place for its citizens near the mills and near to the
dwelling places of the men and women who labor in them.”

Dissolution and Renewal

While one of Lowell’s canalside greenways was getting a
new lease on life as Lucy Larcom Park, another was falling
into serious decline. Part of Francis’ walkway and line of
trees along the inland reach of the Northern Canal had dis-
appeared in the 1880s, when the Proprietors of Locks and
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Canals allowed construction of triple-decker housing right
up to the edge of the canal. By 1908, the remaining walk-
way along the river had become, in one newspaper
account, “the resort of disorderly persons.” It was soon
fenced off and then allowed to deteriorate for most of this
century. Other parts of the canal system suffered similar
neglect as Lowell went into decline.

The unraveling of Lowell’s industrial economy and the
culture it supported began in the mid-1920s and soon
adversely affected the landscaped areas beside the Merri-
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mack Canal. When the textile industry started to shut down
its mills, the tax base in Lowell shrank rapidly. During the
Great Depression, it became impossible for the city to
maintain Lucy Larcom Park. Plantings died, and the light-
ing, benches, and walkway disappeared.® The Proprietors
of Locks and Canals could no longer afford expenditures
for landscaping the margins of any waterway.

Wrecking balls and bulldozers also played a role in the
decline of the Merrimack corridor. The private houses
north of the high school were leveled about 1920, to make
room for a bland, hulking addition to the school. At the
same time, the city tore out the granite block paving of
Anne Street and replaced the roadway with a concrete
walk. The final insults were the demolition of the Dressing
Mill in the early 1940s, the rest of the Merrimack mills
complex in 1960, and the entire line of Dutton Street
boardinghouses in 1966.

A few of the corporate elms lived through these years, but
their days were numbered. Dutch elm disease was as mer-
ciless along the Merrimack Canal as it was on the Northern
Canal Walk. Today there is not one of the towering elms
that once shaded Lowell’s promenaders. However, there
are new trees to take their places, and flowers are blossom-
ing again in Lucy Larcom Park.

The Lowell Historic Preservation Commission restored
both sides of the remaining greenway north of Merrimack
Street for the City of Lowell and the Lowell National His-
torical Park. This rehabilitation program, completed in
1991, was based on the early-20th-century redesign of the
park by the city and the Olmsted Brothers. The new pro-
ject included restoration of the historic edge railings, rein-
terpretation of the walkway and benches along the Lucy
Larcom Park edge, and reinstitution of the green alleé of
trees. Arborists incorporated an ancient ash and a few other
trees from the past in a new planting effort that, through
infilling, recreated single rows on each side of the canal.
Whittier would again lament the small size of the young
trees and, again, counsel us to be patient.

On the Northern Canal, work has begun to reopen the long
closed canal walk and replace missing elements of the
greenway that James Francis designed. Part of the inland
section now has a park-like setting again. The Lowell
National Historical Park is committed to the recreation of a
pedestrian walkway for the entire length of the canal. The

project is a fitting tribute to a renowned engineer with a
green thumb.

Conclusion

Although much of the historic context of the canalside
greenways is gone, those that have been renewed are again
attracting users who are focused toward the water—the
resource that prompted the urban and industrial develop-
ment of Lowell. The city’s greenways are survivals of the
linear (and curvilinear) parks developed by industrialists
and engineers long before Olmsted promoted the idea of
urban park systems or created his own green corridors. The
Merrimack Canal, flowing by Lucy Larcom Park, is the
sole industrial remnant of the city’s first textile corpora-
tion. This preserved channel, and the rehabilitated green-
way that borders it, are effective vehicles for interpreting
the designed landscape of the early textile era. They are
links to a lost architectural setting and a time when prome-
nading was the height of social fashion, not only for corpo-
rate executives and their wives, but also for the mill opera-
tives, shopkeepers, and artisans of Lowell.

Even more evocative is the spectacular walkway along the
Northern Canal, with its truly sublime view of the
extended rapids below Pawtucket Falls. Restoration of this
lengthy riverside promenade is underway and will soon
provide public access to the Great River Wall. When
planned landscaping of the connecting island section is
completed, visitors will again stroll down a sylvan path to
James Francis’ astounding stone retaining wall, there to
experience the full impact of green and civil engineering
on a grand scale.

Notes
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